COUNCIL MEETING
Agenda

Thursday, 8th April, 2021
at 4.30 pm

Remote Meeting on Zoom and available for
the public to view on WestNorfolkBC on You
Tube

King’s Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn, Norfolk, PE30 1EX
Telephone: 01553 616200
Fax: 01553 691663

Dear Councillor
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Borough Council of King’s
Lynn and West Norfolk which will commence at 4.30 pm on Thursday, 8th April,
2021 via Remote Meeting on Zoom and available for the public to view on
WestNorfolkBC on You Tube to transact the business shown below.
Yours sincerely
Lorraine Gore
Chief Executive
BUSINESS TO BE TRANSACTED

1.

PRAYERS

2.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

3.

MINUTES
To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the Meeting of the Council held
on 25 February 2021 (previously circulated).

4.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
Please indicate if there are any interests which should be declared. A
declaration of an interest should indicate the nature of the interest (if not
already declared on the Register of Interests) and the agenda item to which it
relates. If a disclosable pecuniary interest is declared, the member should
withdraw from the room whilst the matter is discussed.

5.

MAYOR'S COMMUNICATIONS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS
To receive Mayor’s communications and announcements.

6.

URGENT BUSINESS
To receive any items of business which in the opinion of the Mayor are urgent.

7.

PETITIONS AND PUBLIC QUESTIONS
To receive petitions and public questions in accordance with Standing Order
9.

8.

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM COUNCIL BODIES
(Members are reminded this is a debate, not a question and answer
session)
To consider the following recommendations to Council:
1)

Cabinet: 16 March 2021 (Pages 6 - 10)

CAB245:
Council
CAB247:
CAB248:
9.

Draft standing order 11.2a - referral back from Cabinet to
Salters Road, King’s Lynn
Southend Road, Hunstanton

CABINET MEMBERS REPORTS
In accordance with Standing Order 11.1 to receive reports from Cabinet
Members in the following order and under Standing Order 11.2 (a) Members
of the Council may ask questions of the Cabinet Member on their reports and
Portfolio areas:
(Councillors are reminded that this is a question and answer session not
a debate.)

10.

1)

Business Development - Councillor G Middleton (Pages 11 - 12)

2)

Climate Change & Commercial Services - Councillor P Kunes (Pages
13 - 14)

3)

Development - Councillor R Blunt (Pages 15 - 17)

4)

Environmental Services & Public Protection - Councillor S Dark
(Pages 18 - 21)

5)

Housing - Councillor A Lawrence (Pages 22 - 25)

6)

Project Delivery - Councillor P Gidney (Pages 26 - 29)

7)

Deputy Leader and Culture, Heritage and Health - Councillor Mrs E
Nockolds (Pages 30 - 32)

8)

Leader and Resources - Councillor B Long (Pages 33 - 35)

MEMBERS QUESTION TIME
In accordance with Standing Order 11.2 (b), Members of the Council may ask
any questions of the Chair of any Council Body (except the Cabinet).
Lorraine Gore
Chief Executive

Agenda Item 8i

RECOMMENDATIONS FROM CABINET ON 16 MARCH 2021 TO COUNCIL ON 8
APRIL 2021

CAB245 DRAFT STANDING ORDER 11.2A - REFERRAL BACK TO CABINET
FROM COUNCIL
Click here to view the recording of this item on You Tube
Cabinet was reminded that at the 14 January 2021 Council meeting it was agreed to
refer back to Cabinet for further consideration the Cabinet Members
recommendation to introduce a new SO 11.2A, as set out below:
“Draft amendment to Standing Order 11.2 referred back to Cabinet for further
consideration and final decision by Council.
11.2A The procedure for putting questions under Standing Order 11.2.1 shall be as
follows:
11.2A.1 The period of time for putting questions and receiving responses shall not
exceed 30 minutes for all Cabinet Members, excluding the Leader.
11.2A.2 The period of time for putting questions and receiving responses to the
Leader shall not exceed 15 minutes.
11.2A.3 The order of putting questions shall commence with one Member from the
largest opposition group, proceeding in descending order to the smallest opposition
group, followed by a Member from the ruling group. This order shall repeat until the
time for questions has elapsed or there are no more questions to be put.”
In proposing the following for inclusion as the standing order, Councillor Long
confirmed he had spoken to group leaders about them. Councillor Nockolds
seconded the proposals.
Standing Order 11.2a
1. That the total time given for questions to Cabinet members except the leader
be 50 minutes, and 15 minutes of the Leader.
2. That no question and answer exceed 10 minutes
3. There is no right to a supplementary question
4. That the cabinet members reports be presented “en bloc” and questions
asked as follows with that order to be rotated at each meeting:
Major opposition group
2nd opposition group
Non aligned councillors
Administration group

5

5. That the suggestion be put to the chairs of panels, that to further facilitate the
scrutiny of cabinet, panels consider having on their agendas a time limited
question and answer session of cabinet members as appropriate to the work
of the panel.
Cabinet discussed the proposals and the suggestion that the Panels have a question
and answer session for Cabinet members was welcomed.
Under standing order 34 Councillor Rust asked that where questions were put to
Cabinet members in advance they were responded to.
Under standing order 34 Councillor Morley felt Cabinet member questions at Panels
would be a positive step with possibly longer than the 10minutes suggested, and the
timeframe proposed for council was fair but preferred opposition questions only. He
suggested that Chairs should be from opposition groups.
Councillor Long confirmed the timeframes would be for a Panel to decide.
Under standing order 34 Councillor Dickinson stated that as Chair of Audit
Committee she would also welcome a cabinet member question and answer session
at her Committee.

Under standing order 34 Councillor Parish indicated he did not have an issue with
the timings for questions except he felt the 10 minutes for each question was too
long. He indicated he had encouraged members of his Group to submit questions in
advance and asked for Cabinet Members to respond to them.
It was confirmed that the review of standing orders would be carried out in due
course as required.
Under standing order 34 Councillor Ryves hoped to receive written answers from
Cabinet members, and suggested question for Panels be put in advance in writing.
Councillor Long commented that who and how long questions were held would be up
to the panel in accordance with the appropriateness of their agenda. He hoped long
questions would be dealt with outside of meetings.
RECOMMENDED: That the following be recommended to Council and incorporated
into standing orders in the appropriate way:
Standing Order 11.2a
6. That the total time given for questions to Cabinet members except the leader
be 50minutes, and 15 minutes of the Leader.
7. That no question and answer exceed 10 minutes
8. There is no right to a supplementary question
9. That the cabinet members reports be presented “en bloc” and questions
asked as follows with that order to be rotated at each meeting:
Major opposition group

6

2nd opposition group
Non aligned councillors
Administration group
10. That the suggestion be put to the chairs of panels, that to further facilitate the
scrutiny of cabinet, panels consider having on their agendas a time limited
question and answer session of cabinet members as appropriate to the work
of the panel.
CAB247 SALTERS ROAD, KING'S LYNN
Click here to view the recording of this item on You Tube
Councillor Long left the meeting during consideration of this item.
Cabinet decided that the item would be taken in public session. The report reminded
Members that on 18th September 2018 it recommended to Council, that the Council
enter into a contract with Homes England to accept their accelerated funding offer to
bring this site forward. The contract with Homes England was agreed on the basis
that this development should be taken forward as part of the Major Housing contract
with Lovell Partnerships Limited, to facilitate the acceleration of the development.
The report updated Members on the progress made, together with how it was hoped
that this scheme would be delivered in partnership with Freebridge Community
Housing.
Under standing order 34 Councillor Rust welcomed the social rentable and shared
ownership houses in an area in need of it, but was sad to lose the open space.
Under standing order 34 Councillor Morley asked whether the water authority would
carry out any work required in the area, and whether there had been sufficient
scrutiny as a large number of the Regeneration and Development Members did not
participate due to being Planning Committee members.
Members were reminded that comments could be made on all planning applications.
Under standing order 34 Councillor Parish commented that the discussions had not
been in public, he felt there should be a better airing of the issue.
Under standing order 34 Councillor Ryves felt the debate should have been public.
He sought legal advice for members to prevent pre determination. He asked what
would happen if the contract with Freebridge didn’t go ahead.
In debating the item, Cabinet commented that members of the Panel not on Planning
Committee could have commented on the item. It was also agreed that “subject to
planning permission being granted” be added to the recommendation.
RECOMMENDED: 1) That the Council enters a contract with Lovell Partnerships
Ltd under the Major Housing Contract to deliver this project subject to planning
permission being granted.
2) That the Council agrees to sell all properties to Freebridge Community Housing
(FCH) as laid out in this report.

7

3) That if terms cannot be agreed with FCH the scheme is delivered as set out in
paragraph 2.4 of the report.
Reason for Decision
1. To develop this site using the Major Housing contract with Lovell Partnerships
Limited.
2. To allow the scheme to be developed using traditional methods.
CAB248 SOUTHEND ROAD, HUNSTANTON
Click here to view the recording of this item on You Tube
The item was taken in public. Cabinet was reminded that on 18 th September 2018 it
recommended to Council, that the Council enter into a contract with Homes England
to accept their accelerated funding offer to bring this site forward. The contract with
Homes England was agreed on the basis that this development should be taken
forward as part of the Major Housing contract with Lovell Partnerships Limited, to
facilitate the acceleration of the development.
The report updated Members on the progress made, explained why the application
was previously refused at Planning Committee on 7th December 2020 and sought
approval to sign contracts with Lovell if planning permission was granted, when represented to Planning Committee.
In discussing the report it was agreed that recommendation 2 in the report be
deleted, and “subject to planning permission being received” be added to
recommendation 1.
Under standing order 34 Councillor Morley, supported the housing for Hunstanton
but sought clarification on the legal position for members on the Regeneration and
Development Panel and Planning Committee.
The Chair reminded members that the Planning Committee received training on all
such issues.
By way of clarification, the Monitoring officer confirmed she could provide further
advice for members, but confirmed that the regulatory decision of the Planning
Committee could be different to that of the Council.
Under standing order 34 Councillor Parish commented that the arrangements to sell
the properties to local people were not practical in the long term.
Under standing order 34 Councillor Ryves commented on the layout of the parking
areas referred to in the report and their optimum use and values.
The Chair reminded Members that the car parks were not always full except on bank
holidays etc.
In debating the item Cabinet supported the ability of local people to purchase the
properties, confirmed the Council’s right of appeal, and the improvement the

8

development would bring to that area of the town, in accordance with the
Regeneration Masterplan.
RECOMMENDED: That the Council enters a contract with Lovell Partnerships Ltd
under the Major Housing Contract to deliver this project subject to planning
permission being granted.
Reason for Decision
1) To develop this site using the Major Housing contract with Lovell Partnerships
Limited.
2) To allow the scheme to be developed using traditional methods.
3) To include the tenure mix shown in section 2.4 of this report.

9

Agenda Item 9i

CABINET MEMBERS REPORT TO COUNCIL
8 April 2021

COUNCILLOR GRAHAM MIDDLETON
CABINET MEMBER FOR BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
For the period February – March 2021

1

Progress on Portfolio Matters.

Following the decision for meetings to be postponed to allow for officers to
allocate time to the COVID response, I would like to take this opportunity to
thank all officers for their hard work in working closely with our partners and to
play our part in protecting our residents.
Specifically I would like to acknowledge the hard work of the property team,
under Matthew Henry’s leadership they have played I vital role in securing
necessary locations to be used as vaccination sites across our borough,
notably the collaboration between ourselves, Alive and the CCG in getting the
Corn Exchange up and running efficiently and effectively.
Across the rest of my portfolio work continues in terms of our town fund BID
and we work with advice from the government in terms of prioritising projects
within the bid.
At a previous town board meeting it was agreed that 2 working groups be set
up 1 for public realm and 2nd for guildhall and creative hub. This are in order
for us as a council to work with various stakeholders and individuals across
the town who have skills and experience in different sectors. Public realm will
fall under my portfolio and the Guildhall under Cllr Nockolds.
Towns fund
We still await a decision on our towns fund application we were hoping for this
to be made by the end of March, unfortunately this will now not be the case
and the government have confirmed further towns fund announcements will
now be made after the election period.
Other funding opportunities
We have now had confirmation of our boroughs involvement with the levelling
up fund and community renewal fund. The community renewal fund is a
revenue based initiative and is asking for innovative projects this will form part
of a longer shared prosperity fund.

10

We are currently in progress to press the green button on the town centre,
public realm improvements that will take 5-6 weeks, whilst we do understand
this is going to clash with town centre re-opening the funding has a tight
deadline so we can not delay this project, we will communicate with business
in the high street to unsure minimal disruption.
Bench’s are being brought by the council to increase seating around the town
over the summer months to assist our hospitality business , more on this to
follow

2

Meetings Attended and Meetings Scheduled

Cabinet sifting
BID meeting
Portfolio sessions
Cabinet
Portfolio session with various officers (throughout the month)
Towns board

11

Agenda Item 9ii

CABINET MEMBERS REPORT TO COUNCIL
8 April 2021

COUNCILLOR PAUL KUNES - CABINET MEMBER FOR CLIMATE CHANGE CO2
REDUCTION, BIO DIVERSITY AND COMMERCIAL SERVICES
For the period 25th February to 8th April 2021

1

Progress on Portfolio Matters.

Climate Change and CO2 reduction.
Two applications for funding were
Decarbonisation Scheme (PSDS)

submitted

to

the

Public

Sector

“The Council has provisionally received a grant of £2.84 million, from the Public
Sector Decarbonisation Scheme (PSDS) fund, to be used on seven council
owned buildings, subject to detailed design and obtaining any consents
required.
This grant funded project aims to reduce carbon emissions from public sector
buildings, using technologies such as air and ground source heat pumps, solar
PV and cavity wall and loft insulation.
We aim to complete the project by September.”
“This project will aid the council’s carbon emissions reduction journey, through
reductions in gas usage.”
These measures are subject to change going into the detailed design stage.
1) Tree Planting:
-

Officers are currently looking into a tree planting pilot on council land.
This pilot is looking to make use of available grants to aid the development
of the project and the initial planting.

Cremations and Burials.
There have been a couple of occasions where groups of mourners larger than the
permitted 30 have turned up at the Crematorium. This can be distressing and
embarrassing. I am pleased to say our staff have dealt with these problems in a
professional and courteous manner. Funeral directors have been contacted and asked
to remind mourners of the Covid Rules.

2

Forthcoming Activities and Developments.

Football club car parking
Work on this project has (at last) commenced on March 22nd.

12

3

Meetings Attended and Meetings Scheduled

Cabinet
Portfolio briefing: -Climate Change, Car parks, Crematorium and Cemeteries and IT.
E&C Panel
R&D Panel
Joint Panel mtg on Budget.
Cabinet Briefing
Norfolk Parking Partnership.
Conservancy Board.
IDB
Friends of the Earth
Klimate Concern
Climate Psychology Alliance and stop Ecocide.
QEH Board of Governors
Habitat Monitoring and Mitigation Fund
All of the above meetings held on line.

13

Agenda Item 9iii

CABINET MEMBERS REPORT TO COUNCIL
8th April 2021

COUNCILLOR RICHARD BLUNT - CABINET MEMBER FOR DEVELOPMENT

For the period from 15th February 2021 to 26th March 2021
1

Progress on Portfolio Matters.

Planning and Discharge of Conditions applications received

Although the total number of applications processed in 2020 was lower than the previous year, the
total number of applications for the last quarter of 2020 was higher than in the previous two years.
2021 has continued in a similar vein with applications received in the first two months already up 76
on last year. There has been a significant increase in householder applications over recent months

Application numbers remain high, and there are a number of major applications under
consideration. Combined with staff sickness and a staff vacancy this has had an impact on
the service, and we are currently asking for a 4 week extension to minor and major
applications upon validation.
Rest assured that we are taking steps to deal with this issue, and we have now employed
the services of two temporary planning officers to assist with the determination of planning
applications, and a Senior Planner is due to start back at the Authority on 10 May. In
addition, we are recruiting a temporary member of staff in Planning Administration to help
speed up the validation process.

14

.

Major and Minor dwelling applications received comparison
No.
of
Major
dwelling applications
rec’d
No.
of
Minor
dwelling applications
rec’d
No. of Householder
applications rec’d

1/3/18 – 28/2/19

1/3/19 – 28/2/20

1/3/20 – 28/2/21

29

27

24

414

427

326

704

647

782

*Minor dwelling applications = up to 10 units

Major dwelling applications = over 10 units

2020 performance for determining planning applications
National target

Performance

Major

60%

100%

Non – Major

70%

97%

Appeal Performance – decisions made by The Planning Inspectorate 1/3/20 – 28/2/21
Planning appeals
Enforcement appeals

Dismissed
35
71%
6

Allowed
14
29%
0

100%

0%

The national average for planning appeals allowed is around 34%.
Revenue income
Income for 2020/21 – based on revised budget of £1,423,000 (original budget £1,163,650)
Projected

Actual

Apr 20 – Feb 21

Apr 20 – Feb 21

£1,304,417

£1,375,826

15

Variance with
projected

+ £71,409

Housing Completions
Completions are still considerably lower in comparison to the same time last year. 285
completions between April 20 and Feb 21 compared to 559 for the same period in 2019/20.

Local Plan Review
 Officers are working to conclude the Local Plan Viability Assessment and the
Habitats Regulations Assessment for the Review. These are significant documents
required for the Examination.
 A further meeting of the Local Plan Task Group is planned for 14 April.
 A Cabinet date of 15 June is targeted, with a series of Briefings in the lead up to that
date.

New Homes Bonus – Government consultation
 Government is considering changes to the current system of payments.
Officers are preparing a technical response to it. The Local Plan Task Group
will receive details.
Neighbourhood Plans
 Significant stages have been reached for Heacham, Hunstanton and Terrington St.
John where plans will be published for formal consultation in early April.
 The Castle Acre and Tilney All Saints plans are at Examination.
Meetings Attended (via Teams Zoom and Youtube)
Portfolio Meetings,
Planning Committee
Planning Committee Sifting
Cabinet
Various Meetings with Officers

Cabinet Sifting
Cabinet Briefings

16

Agenda Item 9iv

CABINET MEMBERS REPORT TO COUNCIL
8 April 2021

COUNCILLOR STUART DARK MBE - CABINET MEMBER
ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES AND PUBLIC PROTECTION

FOR

For the period January to March 2021

1

Progress on Portfolio Matters.

Covid-19
Since my last report to Council key Covid-19 indicators have continued to
show sustained progress in the right direction, with the local infection rate
down considerably from its 2nd peak in December/January and vaccinations
continuing to rise in number (both 1st and 2nd doses) and drop down in to
protecting lower age/priority groups. Delivery of the latter programme being
enhanced by the recent opening of Downham Market Town Hall as a mass
vaccination centre, joining the Corn Exchange, the QEH and several local
surgeries. Our areas vaccination data compares favourably to other districts,
our CCG area, East of England and national data.
Given this written report is necessarily produced several days before council, I
will give the exact figures verbally at our meeting, so that they are the most up
to date and helpful they can be.
Officers continue to deliver the Council’s Covid responsibilities, support
partners in their delivery and plan for supporting each stage of the easing of
restrictions, so that our communities are safeguarded and reassured.
The Revenues and Benefits Team have now paid out just short of £60m via
several thousand claims, supporting local businesses. With the closing date
for grants relating to tier 2/4 in December, the national lockdown and
extension having to be submitted by the 31ST March the Council recently
issued a press release and supportive social media and informed Councillors,
Town and Parish Councils re the impending deadline, continuing its effort
throughout the pandemic to try and ensure everyone entitled to such grant
help receives it.
A new round of grants supporting businesses as they reopen is now opening
and this information and qualifying criteria is being shared.
Members, Town and Parish Council’s continue to receive weekly updates on
issues and progress, with links to key data and useful resources and I pledge

17

this will continue. Since my last report members received another briefing
directly from Senior Staff at the QEH and were able to ask questions.
I believe it appropriate as I draw this section of my portfolio lead report to a
close, the nearest to the recent ‘National Day of Reflection’, to humbly
acknowledge the loss and impact of Covid 19 on so many over the last year
and give my heartfelt thanks to all the staff across all the agencies (including
our officers), teachers, key workers, charities, volunteers and compassionate
neighbours – as we members know this is a huge list in West Norfolk- who
have combined to mitigate this.
Recycling
Since my last report to council, a ‘recycle right’ leaflet has been produced on
recycled and recyclable paper and delivered at very low cost directly to
63,000 West Norfolk households. The intention being to help people with what
and how to recycle to encourage good habits and help towards the
maintenance of high volumes we have seen during the last 12 months. This
work will continue and be built upon throughout the coming year, as part of a
Norfolk wide campaign with the ‘Norfolk Waste Partnership’.
Incoming Waste Contract
The new 3 District (KLWN,Breckland and North Norfolk), multi-year waste
contract began for this council on the 29th March and I have been working with
officers and the Steering Board towards this.
The key points of the contract are:
Financials
Sharing a major contract with two other districts and having this multi-year
saves financially in terms of negotiating position and sharing of resources
(such as spare vehicles, management etc)
Resources can be used efficiently (and need not be rigid to Borough
boundaries)
Environment
The new fuel efficient collection trucks being introduced are quieter and
greener producing less CO2 per mile and using less fuel. They use new
technologies such as electronically powered, rather than engine powered, lifts
which combine to mean each vehicle uses 18% less fuel.
Electric and hybrid trucks are being introduced for bin deliveries and bulky
collections along with a fully electric supervisor vehicle.
New recycling options are being introduced for batteries and small electrical
items and bulky items in good condition are to be put in the recycle/up cycle

18

chain avoiding waste and supporting charities.
The incoming contractor is committed to raising environmental awareness and
supporting recycling and I have already instructed officers to explore how we
can, with them, reinvigorate support to community ‘street’, ‘beach’ and ‘open
space’ clean initiatives as a priority and will report this back to members for
input and support via appropriate Council mechanisms.
Council remains committed to continuing food waste collections and this is a
feature of the new contract. These will resume as soon as it is safe to do so.
Service:
Council fully appreciates the importance of this particular service to residents
and how people like to know the days/times of their ‘collection’ – to this end
service users will see no significant rota changes.
Bin calendars for all our services are being produced and will be distributed
over the coming weeks.
Workforce:
There is, I believe rightly, considerable local public goodwill for the waste
collection crews who have been working so hard during the last turbulent year
– I’m pleased to report that existing crews are transferring across to the new
contract so residents are highly likely to see the same faces on their rounds.
Additional measures are being put in place over the initial
changeover/embedding period to mitigate any unforeseen issues and
members will have received contact details for flagging challenges, alongside
those being communicated to the public in media releases.
The new contract has performance measuring on key areas and a steering
board for shaping/supporting/challenging delivery over its duration. I will be
representing Council on this and reporting this key information back to
members.
Fly-tipping and illegal waste disposal
I have looked at the issue of fly-tipping and illegal waste disposal and listened
to particular issues raised by members. I have engaged the Chief Executive
and responsible officers and with their full support, tasked a prompt review of
Council enforcement policy in this area to ensure it takes into account greater
environmental awareness and the Council’s and public appetite to protect it,
current legislation and best practice, key areas of focus needed based on
local data analysis and for officers to bring a paper with an amended policy
and any structural requirements necessary to deliver it, to Cabinet, with the
opportunity for relevant committees and members to comment on the paper
as it progresses.

19

With cabinet colleagues support this is to be formally put on the forward work
plan at cabinet’s next meeting to schedule it for June’s meeting.

2

Forthcoming Activities and Developments.

Key portfolio activities at this time have to be supporting the Covid 19
response and overseeing the embedding of the new waste contract.
3

Meetings Attended and Meetings Scheduled

Regular and irregular meetings with the Chief Executive, Communications
Officers, relevant responsible Council Officers and partners with regard to the
Borough’s Covid-19 response.
Separate Meetings with Collection Services and EHO managerial staff.
Tri-District responsible lead member ‘joint Waste Contract Review and
Development Board’ and pan-Norfolk ‘Waste Partnership’.
Scheduled meetings associated with Cabinet.

20

Agenda Item 9v

CABINET MEMBERS REPORT TO COUNCIL
8 April 2021

COUNCILLOR ADRIAN LAWRENCE - CABINET MEMBER FOR HOUSING
From Feb – March 2021

Progress on Portfolio Matters.
Home Choice
The figures for February are as follows

1114 live applications on register
2 emergency
152 High
340 medium
620 low
204 new apps /change of circumstances received
18 lets

‘Everyone In’
Since lock down one, the council has continued to respond to the
government’s ‘Everyone In’ initiative, and with support from its
partners, we are continuing to accommodate all rough sleepers.
During the recent winter months we have continued to experience
increased demand from people who are at risk of rough sleeping.
Currently there are no reports of anyone rough sleeping in the
Borough. All reports of anyone rough sleeping are followed up and
verified with the Councils Housing Options team, the Councils rough
sleeping outreach service and partners such as Purfleet Housing and
the Winter Nightshelter.
We are continuing to provide a range of emergency accommodation
options (Winter Nightshelter, welfare cabins, B&B, hostels). In

21

response to anticipated demand/pressure over the winter months we
increased the provision of welfare cabins which provide warm,
dry, safe and secure short-term accommodation in King’s Lynn while
longer-term or supported accommodation can be found. This
accommodation has been invaluable in being able to respond to the
increase need and also provide self-contained accommodation.

MHCLG Protect Plus Bid
In response to the governments request for Local Authorities to
redouble efforts in relation to Rough Sleeping further funding
of upto £70,000 is available to assist with ongoing costs of providing
emergency accommodation. We have submitted a bid for £70,000 to
assist with ongoing accommodation costs and providing further
housing related support. We are currently awaiting the outcome.
We have been successful in obtaining this funding which will be
provided by 31 March 2021.
st

Norfolk Strategic Housing Partnership
The Norfolk Strategic Housing Partnership (NSHP) was formed in
2020 to ensure anyone sleeping rough in Norfolk had access to safe
accommodation as part of the Government’s ‘Everybody In’ initiative.
It went on to develop an ambitious No Homelessness in
Norfolkstrategy. By working better together, the NSHP also hopes to
attract additional funding and develop improved person-centred
services that provide sustainable outcomes. The NHSP with the
Borough Council acting as the lead Authority for bidding
purposes, has been successful in bidding for £20,000 of funding from
the Local Government Association (LGA)Housing Advisors
Programme. The fund will support the project to work with people
with lived experience of homelessness to bring coproduction to the
heart of No Homelessness in Norfolk and provide evidence to
support the case for longer term investment in housing related
support across Norfolk.
Following a successful invitation to bid Nesta have been
appointed. Nesta will provide expert support to develop co-production
elements of a broader No Homelessness in Norfolk project. A key
principle of the main project is to include people with lived experience in
influencing and designing homeless pathways and services.

22

SHPS Service
Historically Norfolk County Council (NCC) has provided funding to each
of the Norfolk Strategic Housing Authorities (SHAs) to support the
prevention and alleviation of homelessness and rough sleeping. The
current tranche of grant funding is due to cease in March 2021.
The funding provides crucial support for vulnerable people and forms
part of an overall, multiagency, funding approach to reducing and
supporting those who are homeless and rough sleeping. Continuation of
this funding is consistent with NCC’s strategic priorities.

Working with District Councils and Bridges Outcome Partnerships NCC
have commissioned a service designed to focus on the prevention of
homelessness in Norfolk and to ensure better support for them in all
walks of life. The Single Homeless Prevention Service (SHPS) is a
collaboration between a group of organisations with a common goal: to
prevent and relieve homelessness for people aged 18 and over. The
service is run in partnership with Local Authorities, frontline delivery
organisations and the government’s Life Chances Fund, who part fund
the service via a Social Outcome Contract. SHPS provides support to
those who are homeless or threatened with homelessness. Local
Authorities refer people to SHPS for support with their housing needs.
The service is provided at a district level. The Benjamin Foundation
have been appointed by Bridges as the local provider in West Norfolk.

New Accommodation update
10 new 1bed move on flats- .Delivered by Broadland Housing
Association as part of Next Steps Funding Programme.
All ten units have been delivered and are now occupied.
6 new 1 bed housing First flats- ready for occupation
between 31 March 2021 and June 2021. Delivered by Broadland
Housing Association as part of Next Steps Funding Programme.
Support contract currently out to tender.
7 new 1 bed move on flats ready for occupation by June 2021.
Delivered by Broadland Housing Association
7 new 1bed homes temporary accommodation (Reid Way) delivered
by Broadland Housing by Summer 2021

23

Purfleet Trust
Although the Health and Wellbeing Centre at Pathway House in
King’s Lynn remains closed since the most recent
lockdown announcement, Purfleet are continuing to ensure that their
clients receive the essential support they will need to help them
throughout the lockdown period. They are continuing work closely
with the Councils Housing Options Team to provide support to those
in emergency accommodation and offer essential services including:
 Welfare checks & telephone support
 Appointments (however these may be offered remotely
where appropriate)
 1:1 counselling will be provided by appointment only at
Pathway House
Winter Night Shelter
The Winter Night Shelter will close on 31 March 2021. Plans are
underway to find suitable move on accommodation for guests prior to
31 March.
st

Meetings Attended
Cabinet briefings
Cabinet
Full Council
Portfolio and updates with Officers

24

Agenda Item 9vi

CABINET MEMBERS REPORT TO COUNCIL
8 April 2021

COUNCILLOR PETER GIDNEY
CABINET MEMBER FOR PROJECT DELIVERY
For the period January to 25 March 2021

1

Progress on Portfolio Matters.

Kings Lynn- Nar Ouse
Enterprise Zone update February 2021
Infrastructure
Project team meeting held on 13.01.21 with NCC team to close off outstanding
requests for information.
Project Team Meeting scheduled 17.02.21 with Norfolk County Council (NCC
infrastructure project team) at which we will get an update on the status of their
design.
Procurement route for infrastructure delivery now confirmed as via the Eastern
Highways Alliance (framework of civils contractors).
NCC have submitted the proposed site wide drainage design to the local Internal
Drainage Boards for approval. NCC have been in dialogue with the drainage boards
throughout the design development so securing the formal consent should be
relatively straightforward. Awaiting confirmation of formal approval.
Spec Build Units
The project team are finalising discussions and looking to formally contract with our
preferred contractor RG Carter for the delivery of Plots A1 and A2 (Phase I). They
recently provided an updated tender figure – including a value engineering schedule
which looks agreeable to the project team. As part of that value engineering schedule
Carter Design have been commissioned to commence detailed design on plots A1
and A2.
RG Carter have now provided options and associated figures for the addressing of
earthworks on the site. These are currently being assessed with a view to formally
contracting with RG Carter, now agreed.
AHR Architects have been appointed to progress designs and tender Plots A3 and
A4 (Phase II) with a view to the construction of these overlapping or following on from

25

the delivery of Plots A1 and A2. Design work due to be completed mid-March 2021.
GC Baxter and Associates (quantity surveyors) appointed to provide pre contract
support to the tender of plots A3 and A4.
General Site Works
Landscape contractor has completed vegetation clearance on the site.
A topographical survey was recently completed to update recent changes in site
levels following Anglian Waters rising main replacement works.
EDP (services consultant) have secured the following:
Electric Supply: in receipt of quotation for diversions, order has been placed –
currently negotiating / finalising route. Quotation received for new connections.
Gas Supply: quotations for new connections received.
Water Supply: quotations for new connections received. Awaiting feedback from
AWS on pumping station and its potential relocation.
The application for the discharge of the landscaping condition has been partially
discharged.
Consultants have been commissioned to undertake a Detailed Reports Review, Gap
Analysis, Additional Ground Investigation and GI Scope. Consultant also working
with RG Carter on the discharge of conditions.
The permanent diversion of the bridleway has been secured – draft application to
temporarily divert the existing route of the bridleway submitted to NCC 11.02.21 for
comment. This will enable unhindered construction of the infrastructure and spec
units – once construction is complete the bridleway will revert to the newly approved
route.
New Anglia LEP
Regular monthly meetings are being held with New Anglia LEP to keep them updated
on progress.
Funding agreement with New Anglia LEP being updated to reflect project timeframe
and costs.
Discussions being held with consultants to provide project support and resource on
recommendation of New Anglia LEP.
Company Enquiries for development
Dialogue with Local Company #2 continues in respect of Plot B2 or C4.
Dialogue with Local Company #3 continues in respect of occupation of first phase
speculative office space.
Team had a meeting and early discussions with a potential developer interested in 2
– 3 acres with the potential of developing Plots B1/3/4/5 and D5/6/7
Kings Lynn - other sites
Sommerfeld and Thomas Site

26

Tenders were received for the De-risking, site investigation. The purpose of this work
is to provide information about underground and other features including the state of
the southern wall to the Mill Fleet. This will enable greater certainty for site conditions
enabling better control with deign, restoration and cost control. The building itself will
be included within an architectural brief to be carried out later.
Interviews have taken place for the firm to carry out the aforementioned site
investigation; the evaluation is through the Borough Council’s procurement process.
A company has been chosen and will be announced subject to contractual items
being accepted.
Parkway
The preparation ready for submission is nearly complete. Officers have gone to
extensive and indeed proper lengths to carry out site investigations with respect to
ecology, design, and sustainable proposals mitigation measures and improvements.
This site is not about displacing nature or intensifying the built environment but
sharing an area which has so many ecological features with people who need new
homes.
I am assured that this project will bring benefits to our community. Also, the position
of the site and the new connections will reduce traffic in general and roadside
pollution in areas like Gaywood where so many children are walking to and from
school. Overall, the development will bring positive gains for the environment and the
proposed increase in wildlife habitats.
There is a section 106 agreement proposed which will pay for the acquisition of 10
acres of land for a new woodland with other planted areas to create habitat rich
environment, this represents about 25% of project area additional land and is an
addition to the three for one mitigation tree planting on site. It is proposed this area
will be managed by a respected national organisation.
Hunstanton
Hunstanton Bus Station site
The design for the new bus shelters have been agreed so that work can begin on
these so that there will be stops available in advance of when the demolition works
start.
Valentines Road, temporary Library.
Works to begin on this by the 1st March, lasting eight weeks ensuring a continuing
library service during the new library construction.
Works on the main project are expected to start at the beginning of May. 2021
Southend Road
The revised design with increased parking solutions is in the planning process.

27

Meetings Attended

January
25 Portfolio Meeting
27 Nalc carbon reduction Parish Councils discussion
28 S and T De-risk Site Investigation Tender opening
February
2 Cabinet
5 Portfolio meeting
8 S and T De-risk Tender evaluation,
10 Cabinet Briefing
17 Portfolio meeting
23 S and T Meeting
24 Cabinet Briefing
25 Full Council
March
1 Cabinet Sifting
2 S and T Interviews
18 HAZ Pre meeting
19 HAZ Board meeting
22 Parkway catch up.
23 West Winch Annual Meeting
24 Cabinet briefing

28

Agenda Item 9vii

CABINET MEMBERS REPORT TO COUNCIL
8 April 2021

COUNCILLOR MRS EA NOCKOLDS
CABINET MEMBER FOR CULTURE, HERITAGE & HEALTH
For the period January 11th 2021 to March 25th 2021

1

Progress on Portfolio Matters.

Recently I passed on to you the COVID19 Inequalities Deep Dive
presentation which I received during a meeting of the H&WB District Councils
Sub-Committee. The main Action Plan for each local area is to have a Local
Delivery Group, LDG, set-up to assess and reduce health inequalities. During
the first 2 meetings of our LDG an agreement was formed to work with 2
initiatives to reduce health inequalities. They are the Falls Prevention work
stream and to support Young Carers. To give support to the QEH, our District
Discharge team are working with the falls initiative and have sent out letters to
those aged over 70 who are on the orthopaedic surgery list, to offer support
and advice if needed. Over 45% have replied and we have offered to
assistance to 43 people via our Handyperson service, either with the Careline
or mobility aides such as Grab Rails, Perching Stools and Booster Cushions.
The residents are given a follow up call once the Handyperson has completed
the work. Each person has responded positively, reporting our Service is
excellent. The Team are aiming to send letters out to the over 60's, which is
170 in number, who are on the waiting list by the end of February. Our District
Discharge team are still working with the QEH. They have had 160 referrals,
45 of these were related to property adaptations.
Recently at a H&WB District Council Sub-Committee a presentation was
given which informed us of the key part of the NHS long-term plan the
Integrated Care Systems,(ICS), which intends to bring major changes in how
health and care services are planned, paid for and delivered. ICS are
partnerships that bring together providers and commissioners of NHS with
local authorities and other local partners to collectively plan and integrate care
to meet the needs of their population. In December 2020 NHS England
confirmed Norfolk & Waveney Health & Care Partnerships will become an ICS
from 1st April 2021. At future Sub-Committees more discussions will be held
to agree the key functions that will form part of local place priorities to support
its population health & wellbeing.
Ask LILY, our web-site online directory, is providing a comprehensive range of
support in our Borough such as to combat loneliness or social isolation,
support to the bereaved, providing advice on how to receive food or
medication supplies. There is also a daily calendar of virtual events for both

29

young people as well as adults such as Coffee and Chat mornings, Creative
or gentle movement activities. Our LILY staff are making contact with the
known vulnerable residents of our Borough as well as receiving many phone
calls for advice. The contract with the County Council has been renewed
starting from the 1st April for 2 years. LILY staff will be working with 4
partners, WN Befrienders, WN Carers, Norfolk & Waveney Mind and Family
Action.

2

Forthcoming Activities and Developments.

Our Tourism Manager continues to meet weekly with other Destination
Management Organisations throughout East of England, which is a coalition
of 14 Destination Management Organisations (DMO). It is the first time all
Norfolk and Suffolk tourism groups have worked together. The coalition
leveraged an additional £420,000 of funding from the Cabinet Office and
VisitEngland. Despite the lockdown and the fact all web-sites are stating 'Stay
at Home & Stay Safe', they have agreed to go ahead with the launch of
Unexplored England, to encourage interest, demand and bookings for
Summer 2021. Visit England's marketing team suggested it was best to keep
ourselves in front of viewers, using Google and Facebook with ads and
video's of each area. Visit East of England has recently received £70,000 from
the Visit England's, ' Escape The Everyday fund', for a marketing campaign to
run April-June which will target a younger audience of single adults and preschool families which chimes with the Consumer Sentiment survey. The
survey showed that the older demographic return to places they know, but
younger people are looking for something new, hence the title of the
campaign, ' Unexplored England'. The campaign will highlight experiences at
each local area, and continue with the messaging of 'Respect, Protect, Enjoy',
and importantly, 'Know Before You Go'. Importantly for businesses working
with the Visit Britain campaign, 'We've Good To Go'. The Visit East of England
web-site will be used as the focal point of activity with links direct to DMO
sites. Thanks to Alive West Norfolk the Tourist Information Point for
Hunstanton will be based at the Oasis. The cafeteria staff will have tourism
training. Another area for promotion is the planned formation of a Biosphere
for the Fens area as it could bring an economic and ecological benefit
especially for Downham Market. More information is on a video via Youtube,
'An introduction to The Fens Biosphere'.
The delivery of Norfolk Museum Services(NMS) in Kings Lynn and West
Norfolk continues to operate under the terms of the Service Level
Agreement(SLA) with the BC. Under an extension of the SLA, NMS will
continue to provide curatorial and conservation advice, support and an
enquiry service for those BC collections currently held in the Town Hall,
including the Fine Art and Civic Regalia. The most recent advice given was
the cleaning of the historic chandeliers at the Town Hall.
The staff of Lynn Museum are working towards a new exhibition in readiness
for the ease of the Covid restrictions. The theme is Gardens in Kings Lynn
area which will include a history of gardens and gardening in the town. The
Museum service holds collections from a local firm, Taylors seed merchants.

30

Amongst the displays it will also show the benefits of gardening for physical
and mental wellbeing.
Collusion Digital Art project are developing a sci-fi time travel family focussed
adventure that introduces the town to the Intergalactic Hanseatic League.
They are working with over 500 primary school pupils at 3 local schools as
well as up to 300 COWA students and Brownie and Scout groups. The work
will be culminated into live projections on 5 projectors. This project was due
take place in March but as result of the lockdown it has been delayed until
October.
3

Meetings Attended and Meetings Scheduled

Virtual meetings via Microsoft Teams and Zoom
Portfolio meetings with ;
Lorraine Gore Chief Executive
Duncan Hall Assistant Director Strategic Housing & Place &
HAZ Manager
Martin Chisholm Assistant Director Operations and Commercial &
Grounds Maintenance staff
John Greenhalgh Assistant Director Community and Partnerships &
LILY and District Discharge staff
Cabinet
WN Transport and Infrastructure Steering Group
Towns Fund Board
E&C Panel meeting
R& D Panel meeting
KL Local Cycling & Walking Briefing with James Wild MP
Chairman of Integrated Care Systems
Health & Well Being District Councils Sub Committee
D Mkt Town Council Liaison meeting
Kings Lynn & West Norfolk School Girls' Trust meeting
Collusion Digital Art Group
PEACH LCEP meeting
Historic England Webinar
Norfolk Records committee
Joint Norfolk Museums Committee
Norfolk Arts Forum
Norfolk Armed Forces Covenant Board meeting
Fens Biosphere Seminar
Visit Norfolk Board meeting
WN Community Transport
Hunstanton Town Council
Hunstanton Civic Society
Lost Intranslation Circus

31

Agenda Item 9viii

CABINET MEMBERS REPORT TO COUNCIL
8 April 2021
COUNCILLOR BRIAN LONG – LEADER & CABINET MEMBER FOR
RESOURCES.
For the period January to 15 February 2021 (Updated to 25 March 2021).

Progress on Portfolio Matters.

Council Finances
This time of the year usually involves preparation for the Financial Plan
preparation and for tonight’s meeting. This year has been no different but has
been a much more rapidly evolving process. Between cabinet meeting and
recommending a budget we have had a revision in figures that are presented
today. This has seen an adjusted balance for 21/22 and an improved
budgetary position upto 2025. It must not be underestimated the work that has
gone into this process or the challenge ahead of us with regards to our
finances. For me 2020/21 has been about getting support to where it has
been needed the next 4 years will be about getting ourselves back to
presenting balanced budgets and recovering from the pandemic.
Update:
The latest budget monitoring report has shown a favourable position upto the
28th. February with a report favourable balance of over £1m this will be added
to general fund balances and effectively improve our budget position for next
financial year.
Covid-19 Pandemic Response
At the time of writing this report it is good to see that finally numbers of cases
are in decline in West Norfolk following a trend across the County and
Country. Numbers receiving vaccinations is increasing daily and our own
venue is working well from reports I have heard.
Support for Business continues with over £12.7m paid out since 22/11/2020.
No doubt further detail will be provided by appropriate portfolio holders.
Update:
As at the 25th February our cases of Covid-19 in West Norfolk have dipped
below 50 cases per 100,000 population for the first time this year and trend
seems to be continuing downward.
Business Grants payments awarded since 22/11/2020 are now in excess of
£20.4 million.
Since January the CIC has been supporting the enhanced contact tracing
programme which involves contacting the contacts of those people who have

32

tested positive for COVID19. The work supports the national test and trace
programme to provide information and advice to people who are required to
self-isolate following contact with someone who has contracted the virus.
Tasks include checking local records to see if we hold contact details where
insufficient information has been provided by an individual, contacting
individuals by phone and, when this is not possible, arranging for a doorstep
check to the person concerned.

Council Long Service Awards.
One of my favourite events each year is to recognise the staff having
achieved 10, 20, 30 and 40 years of service. This year has had to be different
and so a virtual presentation was held. After this was distributed I have had a
number of staff thank me for still being able to have such an event albeit in a
different way.
Elections 2021.
Following from Questions about holding elections during a pandemic and the
difficulties it presents, not least in making elections safe, I made
representation to Civil Servants within Cabinet Office, and was due to address
Chloe Smith MP at a District Councils Network seminar. However
unfortunately the Minister was unwell and could not attend. I did however
raise my concerns these were echoed by other attendees. However it was
conformed elections will go ahead and funding would be made available to
make venues, staff and the public safe. Details of this will I am told follow, I
will of course advise when detail is available.
Update:
With the decision taken nationally that Elections will proceed, The Elections
team are currently progressing all arrangements for the forthcoming elections
on 6th May. There is a considerable additional workload in respect of these
arrangements this year to ensure that the elections can be delivered in a
COVID safe manner.

Wash and North Norfolk Marine Partnership.
At the recent full management board of the WNNMP I was elected Chairman,
this position has traditionally been held by the employing authority which in
recent years has been Eastern IFCA.
There has been a change of employing authority to NCC and their constitution
amended to allow elected members to hold the chair.
The project involves authorities surrounding the Wash and other accountable
bodies. Work strands at present include Visitor pressures / disturbance of
birds by dog walkers and impact on Seals. As well as statutory reporting of
protected species and condition status on protected features the partnership
also promotes community engagement with area based stakeholder groups.

33

Meetings Attended and Meetings Scheduled
In addition to my usual round of Portfolio and Cabinet Meetings I have also
attended the following meetings (All Virtual via Team / Zoom unless stated)
Norfolk Leaders Meetings
Norfolk Covid-19 Engagement Boards
Norfolk Public Sector Leaders Board.
Corporate Performance Panel
Ministerial Briefings
DCN Briefings
Independent Group Leaders Meeting
Labour Group Leaders Meeting
Core Management Group – Norfolk Coast Partnership
Alive West Norfolk Board Meeting
King’s Lynn Internal Drainage Board
Briefing Session on Census 2021
Meeting with Downham Market Town Council
West Norfolk Transport and Infrastructure steering Group
Audit Committee
Filming for Various Council Videos
East Of England LGA assembly.
Public meeting regarding school amalgamation (Wormegay / Runcton Holme)
ADA Welland and Nene Branch meeting
Town Deal Board
ADA Great Ouse Branch Meeting
Wash and North Norfolk Marine Partnership Steering Group

34

